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Caution 
As of: Apr 11, 2007 
 

JACQUELINE SOSA, CAROL HUNTINGTON, Plaintiffs-Appellants, versus 
CHASE MANHATTAN MORTGAGE CORPORATION, a foreign corporation, De-

fendant-Appellee. 
 

No. 02-13930  
 

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT  
 

348 F.3d 979; 2003 U.S. App. LEXIS 21759; 16 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C 1230 
 

October 24, 2003, Decided   
October 24, 2003, Filed 

 
SUBSEQUENT HISTORY: Rehearing, en banc, denied 
by Sosa v. Chase Manhattan Mortg. Corp., 90 Fed. 
Appx. 385, 2003 U.S. App. LEXIS 27149 (2003) 
 
PRIOR HISTORY:  [**1]  Appeal from the United 
States District Court for the Southern District of Florida. 
D. C. Docket No. 02-20285-CV-PAS. Judge: Patricia A. 
Seitz. 
 
DISPOSITION: AFFIRMED. 
 
CASE SUMMARY: 
 
 
PROCEDURAL POSTURE: Appellants, two individ-
ual borrowers, filed an action against appellee lender 
pursuant to the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act, 
12 U.S.C.S. § 2601 et seq., in relation to a fee dispute. 
The borrowers appealed from the United States District 
Court for the Southern District of Florida. 
 
OVERVIEW: The borrowers contended that the lender 
accepted a portion of the charge other than for services 
actually performed, which was a violation of 12 U.S.C.S. 
§ 2607. The court of appeals disagreed with the conclu-
sion of the district court but agreed with the outcome. 
The court of appeals found that a consumer could not be 
liable as the giver of an unearned portion of a fee be-
cause a consumer always intended to pay the fee for ser-
vices that were actually rendered. Not only did the com-
plaint fail to allege that the lender did not perform any 
services, the appellate court did not believe that the bor-

rowers could credibly make such an allegation. It was 
undisputed that the charges were paid to the lender and 
that it arranged to have items delivered to complete the 
closing. Through its agents, therefore, the lender per-
formed the deliveries that were the subject of the 
charges. Under these circumstances, it was impossible to 
say that the lender performed no services for which its 
retention of a portion of the fees at issue was justified. 
 
OUTCOME: The court of appeals affirmed the district 
court decision, but for a different reason. 
 
LexisNexis(R) Headnotes 
 
 
 
Banking Law > Consumer Protection > Real Estate 
Settlement Procedures > Kickbacks & Prohibited Fees 
[HN1] See 12 U.S.C.S. § 2607. 
 
 
Banking Law > Consumer Protection > Real Estate 
Settlement Procedures > General Overview 
Civil Rights Law > Contractual Relations & Housing > 
Fair Housing Rights > Credit & Mortgage Laws 
[HN2] Congress has passed the Real Estate Settlement 
Procedures Act of 1974, 12 U.S.C.S. § 2601 et seq., in 
order to reduce the costs consumers pay to settle their 
real estate transactions. 
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Banking Law > Consumer Protection > Real Estate 
Settlement Procedures > General Overview 
[HN3] See 12 U.S.C.S. § 2601. 
 
 
Banking Law > Consumer Protection > Real Estate 
Settlement Procedures > Kickbacks & Prohibited Fees 
Criminal Law & Procedure > Criminal Offenses > 
Crimes Against Persons > Bribery > General Overview 
Governments > Federal Government > U.S. Congress 
[HN4] One of the abusive practices that Congress has 
sought to eliminate through the enactment of Real Estate 
Settlement Procedures Act (RESPA), 12 U.S.C.S. § 2601 
et seq., has been the payment of referral fees, kickbacks, 
and other unearned fees. S. Rep. No. 93-866 (1974), re-
printed in 1974 U.S.C.C.A.N. 6546, 6551. Of particular 
interest to Congress has been the payment by settlement 
service providers of commissions or fees in exchange for 
the referral of a consumer's business. Congress has 
wished to eliminate fees for which no service was per-
formed and no goods were furnished. These fees are 
passed along to consumers and increase settlement costs 
without providing any benefits. Section 8 of RESPA 
addresses kickbacks and unearned fees. Subsection 8(a) 
of RESPA contains the general prohibition on making 
payments pursuant to any referral fee arrangement. Sub-
section 8(b) of RESPA attempts to close any loopholes 
by prohibiting any person from giving or accepting any 
part of a fee unless services were actually performed. 
Read together, the two subsections create a broad prohi-
bition against fees that serve solely to increase the cost of 
settlements to consumers. 
 
 
Banking Law > Consumer Protection > Real Estate 
Settlement Procedures > General Overview 
[HN5] The United States Courts of Appeals for the Sev-
enth and Fourth Circuits have held that a settlement ser-
vice provider cannot be liable for accepting a fee from 
the consumer, even if part of the fee is unearned. 
 
 
Governments > Legislation > Interpretation 
[HN6] In the English language, the word "and" is used to 
connect words, phrases, or clauses that have the same 
grammatical function. 
 
 
Banking Law > Consumer Protection > Real Estate 
Settlement Procedures > Kickbacks & Prohibited Fees 
Contracts Law > Negotiable Instruments > Enforce-
ment > Duties & Liabilities of Parties > Types of Par-
ties > Acceptors 
[HN7] A consumer could not be liable as the "giver" of 
an unearned portion of a fee, because the statute only 

prohibits giving a portion of a fee other than for services 
actually performed. 12 U.S.C.S. § 2607(b). That is, the 
payment must be made for some reason other than in 
exchange for services actually rendered. Absent any 
connivance, however, a consumer would always pay a 
fee to a settlement service provider intending that it be 
used for a service actually performed. A culpable pro-
vider could accept the entire fee, knowing that part of it 
was not for services actually performed, however. In 
such a case the provider could be liable as an acceptor, 
but the consumer would not be liable as the giver of the 
unearned portion of the fee. 
 
 
Civil Procedure > Pleading & Practice > Defenses, 
Demurrers, & Objections > Motions to Dismiss 
Civil Procedure > Appeals > Standards of Review > De 
Novo Review 
[HN8] An appellate court reviews a district court's grant 
of a motion to dismiss de novo, taking as true the facts as 
they are alleged in the complaint. A correct judgment 
may be affirmed on any ground regardless of the grounds 
addressed, adopted, or rejected by the district court. 
 
 
Banking Law > Consumer Protection > Real Estate 
Settlement Procedures > Kickbacks & Prohibited Fees 
Real Property Law > Financing > Mortgages & Other 
Security Instruments > Mortgagor's Interests 
[HN9] To state a claim under the applicable part of sub-
section 8(b) of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act 
of 1974, 12 U.S.C.S. § 2601 et seq., the borrowers must 
allege that a party has accepted any portion, split or per-
centage of any charge for the rendering of a real estate 
settlement service other than for services actually per-
formed. 12 U.S.C.S. § 2607(b). 
 
COUNSEL: For Sosa, Jaqueline, Huntington, Carol, 
Appellants: Wites, Marc A., Wites & Kapetan, P.A., 
Deerfield Beach, FL. 
  
For Chase Manhattan Mortgage Corporation, Appellee: 
Pabian, Ilene L., Holland & Knight, LLP, Miami, FL. 
Pope, LeAnn Pedersen, Burke, Warren MacKay & Ser-
ritella, P.C., CHICAGO, IL. Pearson, Daniel S., Holland 
& Knight, MIAMI, FL. 
  
For United States, Amicus: Kohl, Christine N., Washing-
ton, DC. Singer, Michael Jay, U.S. DOJ-Civil Division, 
Appellate Staff, WASHINGTON, DC. 
 
JUDGES: Before TJOFLAT and WILSON, Circuit 
Judges, and LIMBAUGH *, District Judge. 
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* Honorable Stephen N. Limbaugh, United States 
District Judge for the Eastern District of Mis-
souri, sitting by designation. 

 
OPINION BY: TJOFLAT 
 
OPINION:  [*981]  TJOFLAT, Circuit Judge: 

Section 8 of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures 
Act ("RESPA") provides, in pertinent part: 
 

  
[HN1] (a) Business referrals. No person 
shall give and no person shall accept any 
fee, kickback, or thing of value pursuant 
to any agreement or understanding, oral or 
otherwise, that business incident to or a 
part of a real estate settlement service in-
volving a federally related mortgage loan 
shall be referred to any person. 
  
(b) Splitting Charges. No person shall 
give and no person shall accept any por-
tion, split, or percentage of any charge 
made or received for the rendering of a 
real estate settlement service in connec-
tion with a transaction involving a feder-
ally related mortgage loan other than for 
services actually performed. 

 
  
12 U.S.C.A. § 2607. This case presents [**2]  the ques-
tion of whether Chase Manhattan Mortgage Corporation, 
as a mortgage lender, violated subsection 8(b) of RESPA 
when in connection with loan closings it charged bor-
rowers a $ 50 fee for "messenger" or "courier" services. 
Chase paid part of the fee to third-party independent con-
tractors that provided the messenger or courier services 
required to complete the loan closing. Because Chase 
retained a portion of the $ 50 fee, but did not make the 
actual deliveries, the borrower contends that Chase ac-
cepted a portion of the charge "other than for services 
actually performed." 

The district court disagreed and therefore granted 
Chase's motion to dismiss the complaint for failure to 
state a claim for relief. In the district court's view, to be 
liable for violating subsection 8(b), Chase had to have 
shared the portion of the fee it retained with a third party; 
because Chase did not do so, the court reasoned, it did 
not violate the statute. We affirm the district court's deci-
sion to dismiss the complaint but we do so for a different 
reason. 

I. 

[HN2] Congress passed RESPA in order to reduce 
the costs consumers pay to settle their real estate transac-
tions. The statute states:  
 

  
[HN3] (a) The [**3]  Congress finds that 
significant reforms in the real estate set-
tlement process are needed to insure that 
consumers throughout the Nation are pro-
vided with greater and more timely in-
formation on the nature and costs of the 
settlement process and are protected from 
unnecessarily high settlement charges 
caused by certain abusive practices that 
have developed in some areas of the coun-
try. 

 
  
12 U.S.C. § 2601. 

[HN4] One of the abusive practices that Congress 
sought to eliminate through the enactment of RESPA 
was the payment of referral fees, kickbacks, and other 
unearned fees. S. Rep. No. 93-866 (1974), reprinted in 
1974 U.S.C.C.A.N. 6546, 6551. Of particular interest to 
Congress was the payment by settlement service provid-
ers of commissions or fees in exchange for the referral of 
a consumer's business. Id. Congress similarly wished to 
eliminate fees for which no service was performed and 
no goods were furnished. Id. These fees are passed along 
to consumers and increase settlement costs without pro-
viding any benefits. 

Section 8 of RESPA addresses kickbacks and un-
earned fees. Subsection 8(a) contains the general prohibi-
tion on making payments pursuant [**4]  to any referral 
fee arrangement. Subsection 8(b) attempts to close any 
loopholes by prohibiting any person from giving or ac-
cepting any part of a fee unless services were actually 
performed. Read together, the [*982]  two subsections 
create a broad prohibition against fees that serve solely to 
increase the cost of settlements to consumers. n1 
 

n1 Subsections 8(c) and 8(d) complete the 
prohibition on kickbacks and unearned fees: sub-
section 8(c) provides specific examples of the 
sorts of fees that are earned and not prohibited by 
subsections (a) and (b), while subsection 8(d) 
provides criminal and civil liability against per-
sons who violate section 8. 12 U.S.C. § 2607(c), 
(d). 
  

II. 

The district court's theory in this case was that sub-
section 8(b) requires two culpable parties to split an un-
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earned fee. According to the district court, the plain lan-
guage of the statute compels such an interpretation. The 
first part of the subsection states that "no person shall 
give and no person shall accept" a [**5]  part of a fee 
other than for services actually performed. 12 U.S.C. § 
2607(b). Emphasizing the word "and," the district court 
stated that there must be both a culpable giver and a cul-
pable acceptor of the unearned fee. The Fourth Circuit 
has similarly expressed its opinion that the quoted lan-
guage implies two culpable parties. Boulware v. Cross-
land Mortgage Corp., 291 F.3d 261, 266 (4th Cir. 2002) 
("The use of the conjunctive 'and' indicates that Congress 
was clearly aiming at an exchange or transaction, not a 
unilateral act."). 

The district court further reasoned that if Chase 
could be liable for accepting the part of the charge that it 
did not pay to the third-party contractors, then the bor-
rower could be liable as the "giver" of the purportedly 
unearned part of the fee. Two other circuits have come to 
a similar conclusion. [HN5] The Seventh and Fourth 
Circuits have held that a settlement service provider can-
not be liable for accepting a fee from the consumer, even 
if part of the fee was unearned. Krzalic v. Republic Title 
Co., 314 F.3d 875, 879 (7th Cir. 2002); Boulware, 291 
F.3d at 265. The Boulware court [**6]  reasoned that the 
consumer would necessarily violate subsection 8(b) by 
giving part of the unearned fee, and that such a result 
would be irrational. Boulware, 291 F.3d at 265. 

The district court's reasoning does not withstand 
scrutiny, however. First, the assertion that the language 
"no person shall give and no person shall accept" means 
that both a giver and an acceptor are required for a viola-
tion of subsection 8(b) rests on a misunderstanding of 
English grammar. Second, a consumer could not be li-
able as the giver of an unearned portion of a fee because 
a consumer will always intend to pay the fee for services 
that are actually rendered. 

The district court's conclusion that subsection 8(b) 
"plainly says that a violation of the statute requires at 
least two people" is incorrect. [HN6] In the English lan-
guage, the word "and" is "used to connect words, 
phrases, or clauses that have the same grammatical func-
tion." American Heritage Dictionary of the English Lan-
guage 49 (1976). Subsection 8(b) is comprised of a sin-
gle sentence. The "and" in the sentence connects the two 
phrases, "no person shall give" and "no person shall ac-
cept." Each of the connected phrases provides a [**7]  
separate subject and verb for the sentence. The "and" in 
subsection 8(b) therefore operates to create two separate 
prohibitions: First, "no person shall give any portion, 
split or percentage of any charge . . . ."; and second, "no 
person shall accept any portion, split or percentage of 
any charge . . . ." Giving a portion of a charge is prohib-
ited regardless of whether there is a culpable acceptor, 

and accepting a portion of a charge is prohibited regard-
less of whether there is a culpable giver. 

 [*983]  Extending liability only if there were both a 
culpable giver and acceptor of an unearned fee would 
lead to irrational results. For example, one real estate 
settlement service provider could decide to give a kick-
back to another. The second provider, aware of RESPA's 
prohibitions, might then refuse to accept the kickback. 
Under the district court's reasoning, the first provider 
would not have violated subsection 8(b), because there 
was no culpable acceptor of the kickback. That the cul-
pable giver's liability would turn on whether the intended 
recipient decided to accept the kickback is irrational. 

Furthermore, [HN7] a consumer could not be liable 
as the "giver" of an unearned portion of a [**8]  fee, be-
cause the statute only prohibits giving a portion of a fee 
"other than for services actually performed." 12 U.S.C. § 
2607(b). That is, the payment must be made for some 
reason other than in exchange for services actually ren-
dered. Absent any connivance, however, a consumer 
would always pay a fee to a settlement service provider 
intending that it be used for a service actually performed. 
A culpable provider could accept the entire fee, knowing 
that part of it was not for services actually performed, 
however. In such a case the provider could be liable as 
an acceptor, but the consumer would not be liable as the 
giver of the unearned portion of the fee. 

III. 

Although we disagree with the district court as to 
whether a single party can violate subsection 8(b), we 
nevertheless affirm its order. [HN8] We review the dis-
trict court's grant of a motion to dismiss de novo, taking 
as true the facts as they are alleged in the complaint. Co-
vad Communications Co. v. BellSouth Corp., 299 F.3d 
1272, 1276 n.2 (11th Cir. 2002). A correct judgment may 
be affirmed on any ground regardless of the grounds 
addressed, adopted or rejected by the district court.  
[**9]  Johnson Enters. of Jacksonville v. FPL Group, 
162 F.3d 1290, 1311 n.50 (11th Cir. 1998) (citations 
omitted). We find that even if a single party may violate 
subsection 8(b) by marking up the charge of another set-
tlement service provider, the borrowers have neverthe-
less failed to state a claim upon which relief may be 
granted. 

[HN9] To state a claim under the applicable part of 
subsection 8(b) of RESPA, the borrowers must allege that 
Chase "accepted any portion, split or percentage of any 
charge . . . for the rendering of a real estate settlement 
service . . . other than for services actually performed." 
12 U.S.C. § 2607(b). The borrowers have not done so. 

The complaint alleges, and we take as true, that 
Chase charged borrowers $ 50 for courier or messenger 
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fees, that Chase paid only a portion of that fee to third-
party contractors, and that Chase "created the misimpres-
sion" that the fees were entirely paid to the third parties. 
The borrowers have thus contended that Chase accepted 
a portion of a charge for real estate services. What is 
missing is an allegation that the portion of the charge that 
Chase retained was accepted "other than for services 
[**10]  actually performed," i.e., that Chase performed 
no services that would justify its retention of a portion of 
the fee. 

Not only does the complaint fail to allege that Chase 
did not perform any services, we do not believe that the 
borrowers could credibly make such an allegation. It is 
undisputed that the charges were paid to Chase and that 
Chase arranged to have items delivered to complete the 
closing. Through its agents, therefore, Chase performed 
the deliveries that were the subject of the charges. More-
over,  [*984]  even if Chase could not be credited with 

the actual delivery, Chase benefitted the borrowers by 
arranging for third party contractors to perform the de-
liveries. Under these circumstances, we find it impossi-
ble to say that Chase performed no services for which its 
retention of a portion of the fees at issue was justified. 

IV. 

Because we find that the borrowers have failed to al-
lege that Chase accepted a portion of a real estate settle-
ment charge other than for services actually performed, 
we do not address borrowers' argument that subsection 
8(b) is ambiguous, and that Chevron U.S.A. Inc. v. Natu-
ral Resources Defense Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 81 L. 
Ed. 2d 694, 104 S. Ct. 2778 (1984), [**11]  commands 
that we defer to the Department of Housing and Urban 
Development's interpretation of the subsection. Accord-
ingly, the district court was correct to dismiss the com-
plaint, and its judgment is AFFIRMED.   

 



 

121G5X 
********** Print Completed ********** 
 
Time of Request: Wednesday, April 11, 2007  10:03:58 EST 
 
Print Number:    2822:22157604 
Number of Lines: 228 
Number of Pages:   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Send To:  JONES, JENNIFER 
          BUCKLEY KOLAR LLP 
          1250 24TH ST NW FL 7 
          WASHINGTON, DC 20037-1124 

 


